THE CHEMISTRY OF OXINDOLE

WARD C. SUMPTER

Department of Chemistry, Western Kentucky State Teachers College, Bowling Green, Kentucky

Received June 27, 1945

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	443
II.	Synthesis of oxindole and of oxindole derivatives	443
III.	General properties of oxindole	
	A. Physical properties	452
	B. Salts	453
	C. Tautomerism	453
	D. Oxidation and reduction	454
	E. Acyl and alkyl derivatives of oxindole	454
	F. 3.3-Diarvl derivatives of oxindole	460
	G. Halogenation, nitration, and sulfonation	460
	H. Condensation with aldehydes and ketones	46 6
	I. Amino derivatives of oxindole	467
	J. Hydroxy derivatives of oxindole	470
IV.	References	475

I. INTRODUCTION

In 1866 and 1868 Baeyer (4, 10) published the results of his researches on the reduction of isatin. In addition to isatide, which had been obtained previously by Laurent (128, 130, 131) and by Erdmann (49), Baeyer obtained dioxindole, $C_8H_7NO_2$, by the further reduction of which oxindole, $C_8H_7NO_2$, was prepared.

Baeyer (5) established the constitution of oxindole as the lactam of 2-aminophenylacetic acid through its synthesis by the reduction of 2-nitrophenylacetic acid with tin and hydrochloric acid.

Current practice in oxindole nomenclature is to number the positions as shown in the formula below. Other systems of numbering have been used at times by



some workers (28, 29, 30, 31, 33, 169), but the system shown here is employed generally at the present time. In the English and German literature oxindole is frequently called indolinone.

II. SYNTHESIS OF OXINDOLE AND OF OXINDOLE DERIVATIVES

Baeyer and Knop (10) found that when isatin is reduced with sodium amalgam in alkaline medium 3-hydroxyoxindole (dioxindole) is obtained. Further reduction of dioxindole with tin and mineral acids or by sodium amalgam in acid medium gave oxindole. One convenient procedure for preparing oxindole is that of Marschalk (141, 142). In this procedure isatin is reduced to dioxindole through the agency of sodium hydrosulfite. Dioxindole is then reduced to oxindole by the action of sodium amalgam in a solution saturated with carbon dioxide. The reduction of a number of substituted dioxindoles to the corresponding derivatives of oxindole has been accomplished by Wahl and coworkers (204, 205).

v. Braun and Hahn (26) prepared dioxindole-4-carboxylic acid by reducing isatin-4-carboxylic acid with sodium amalgam. Dioxindole-4-carboxylic acid undergoes disproportionation when heated in alcohol solution, yielding oxindole-4-carboxylic acid and isatin-4-carboxylic acid in equivalent quantities. Oxindole-4-carboxylic acid can also be prepared by reducing dioxindole-4-carboxylic acid with sodium amalgam under proper conditions.

Isatin was also reduced to oxindole through the agency of hydrazine by Curtius and Thun (43).



The first synthesis of oxindole (other than by the reduction of isatin) and the one which established its constitution with certainty was by Baeyer (5) through the reduction of 2-nitrophenylacetic acid with tin and hydrochloric acid.



a said with ging and hudroghlarie agid

Reduction of 2-nitrophenylacetic acid with zinc and hydrochloric acid gives both oxindole and 1-hydroxyoxindole (also sometimes called 1,2-dioxindole) (163, 164, 165).

Substituted oxindoles have been prepared by the reduction of substituted derivatives of 2-nitrophenylacetic acid by Wispec (212), Smith and MacMullen (172), Wahl and Livovschi (138, 139, 207), Ruggli and Grand (166), Parks and Aldis (158), Wahl and Bagard (200), Hahn and Schulz (68), Hahn and Tulus (69), Trinius (196), Heller (78), and Gabriel and Meyer (56). König and Reissert (114) obtained oxindole and o-aminophenylacetanilide by the reduction of o-nitrophenylacetanilide.

Heller (77) found that reduction of N-acetoxyoxindole with zinc dust and acetic acid gave oxindole.

Di Carlo (44) found that catalytic reduction of o-nitrophenylacetic acid gave oxindole. Under certain conditions some 1-hydroxyoxindole was obtained as a by-product. The procedure given by Di Carlo seems to offer a convenient method for the synthesis of oxindole. Koelsch (113) has utilized a similar procedure for the synthesis of 5-methoxyoxindole.

Oxindole was also prepared by Suida (183) through the reduction of 2-acetaminomandelic acid by either hydriodic acid and phosphorus or sodium amalgam.



Baeyer and Comstock (9) prepared oxindole from the barium salt of 2-aminophenylacetic acid by acidifying and then heating.

Pschorr and Hoppe (161) prepared oxindole from 2-aminobenzyl cyanide by treatment with aqueous sodium hydroxide and subsequent acidification.

A procedure developed by Hinsberg (87, 88) serves for the preparation of N-alkyloxindoles. A secondary aromatic amine is condensed with the sodium



bisulfite addition compound of glyoxal. The resulting product gives an N-alkyloxindole on treatment with aqueous hydrochloric acid.

Oxindole was obtained by Mazzaro and Borgo (150) by steam distillation in the presence of hydrochloric acid of the product obtained when indole is treated with sulfuryl chloride.

N-Alkylindoles and N-substituted indole- α -carboxylic acids have been converted into the corresponding oxindoles by Colman (40) and by Michaelis (152). The N-alkylindole- α -carboxylic acid (or N-alkylindole) is treated with sodium hypobromite, giving a 1-alkyl-3,3-dibromoöxindole which on reduction gives the corresponding 1-alkyloxindole.



Brunner (29, 30, 33) prepared oxindole by heating β -acetylphenylhydrazine with lime at 200–220°C. This procedure has been extended by Brunner (34, 35,



36) and by others (59, 60, 169, 195, 199) to the preparation of many substituted oxindoles, especially 3, 3-dialkyl derivatives of oxindole.

A similar preparation of substituted oxindoles also due to Brunner (28, 31) is shown in the following scheme:



Another convenient and general method for the preparation of oxindole and of N-substituted oxindoles is that of Stollé (62, 63, 179, 180, 182). An α -halogenated acid chloride or bromide is condensed with an aromatic amine. Subsequent ring closure with aluminum chloride yields the corresponding oxindole.



The Stollé synthesis has also been utilized by a number of other investigators (98, 100, 107, 138, 139, 160, 207). Stollé found that N-benzylchloroacetanilide on treatment with aluminum chloride gave oxindole with the splitting out of the benzyl group (180).

Oxindole derivatives of the type of I are obtained from arylamines and



dichloroacetic acid in a reaction discovered by P. J. Meyer (151) and subsequently studied by Duisberg (46), Heller (79, 80), and Paucksch (159).

Wieland and Wieland (210) obtained the oxindole derivative IV from bufothionine (II) in the manner shown below:





Stedman and Barger (173), in the course of the investigation of the structure of physostigmine (eserine), obtained the oxindole derivative V as a degradation product. Catalytic reduction of V yielded VI.



In a series of papers pointing to the synthesis of physostigmine, Robinson, Boyd-Barrett, and King (23, 24, 108, 109) developed syntheses of some interesting oxindole derivatives (VII, VIII, IX, X).



The total synthesis of physostigmine was accomplished by Julian and coworkers (98, 99) in a research involving some beautiful oxindole chemistry. The synthesis follows in outline:



WARD C. SUMPTER



Resolution of racemic XI and continuation of the synthesis with *l*-XI gave *l*-physostigmine, identical with the natural product.

Leuchs and Overberg (133) prepared 3,3-dibenzyloxindole from 3,3-dibenzyl-2-methylindolenine, as outlined below:



Hahn and Tulus (69) prepared several oxindole derivatives by the catalytic reduction of certain α -chloro- α -(o-nitroalkoxyphenyl)acetanilides. The reduction of XIII yielded 5,6-dimethoxyoxindole (XIV).



5,6-Methylenedioxyoxindole (XV) and 5-acetoxy-6-methoxyoxindole (XVI) were prepared in similar fashion. Under different catalytic conditions the reduction of XIII gives the hydrochloride of 2-amino-3,4-dimethoxyphenylacetamide as well as the dimethoxyoxindole (XIV).

Ainley and Robinson (2) found that 3-benzoylformyloxindole (XVII) is formed when isatylideneacetophenone oxide (XVIII) is treated with alkali. The latter compound (XVIII) is formed when the sodium salt of isatin is treated with



phenacyl bromide. Ainley and Robinson had expected that 1-phenacylisatin (XIX) would be the product in this reaction but found that XVIII was the actual substance obtained. In support of the structures assigned to this substance (XVIII) and to the rearrangement product (XVII), Ainley and Robinson found



that isatylidene-o-nitroacetophenone oxide (XX) and o-nitrobenzoylformyloxindole (XXI) both yield indirubin (XXII) on reduction.



Measurements of the absorption spectra of benzoylformyloxindole (XVII) have been reported by Bergstrom and Robinson (18).

A recent attempt (189) to prepare 1-phenacylisatin from isatin-1-acetyl chloride and benzene through the agency of aluminum chloride led to the preparation of 3,3-diphenyl-1-phenacyloxindole (XXIII) and not XIX as expected. This condensation with two molecules of benzene in the 3-position seems to be general in the isatin series, since 3,3-diphenyloxindole (XXIV) was obtained from isatin, benzene, and aluminum chloride (189).



An interesting preparation of 4,5,6,7-tetrahydroöxindole-3-propionic acid from 2-ketocyclohexane- α -glutaric acid has been described by Kendall and coworkers (105, 106).



A number of brominated and iodinated derivatives of oxindole-3-propionic acid have been described by these workers. The structures suggested for several of these derivatives are somewhat unorthodox and, being supported by evidence which appears quite inadequate, must be regarded as far from established. The melting point given for their oxindole-3-propionic acid is quite different from that given elsewhere (64) for oxindole-3-propionic acid prepared by more conventional methods.

III. GENERAL PROPERTIES OF OXINDOLE

A. Physical properties

Oxindole crystallizes from water in colorless needles melting at $126-127^{\circ}$ C. The substance boils at 195° C. at 17 mm. (202) and at 227° C. at 73 mm. (43). It is soluble in hot water, alcohol, benzene, ether, and acetic acid. It is more soluble in alkaline solutions than in water. The heat of combustion at constant volume has been found to be about 950.5 kg.-cal. per mole (19).

B. Salts

Oxindole forms a white silver salt, C_8H_6ONAg , on treatment of its aqueous solution with cold ammoniacal silver nitrate solution (10). On prolonged heating the silver nitrate is reduced by the oxindole.

The sodium salt of oxindole is obtained from oxindole and sodium amalgam in warm benzene (209). This salt is also obtained by the treatment of oxindole with sodium ethoxide (78).

Heating oxindole with barium hydroxide solution at 150° C. gives the barium salt of 2-aminophenylacetic acid. The latter salt on acidification again yields oxindole (9, 141, 142).

Oxindole combines with hydrochloric acid to give a hydrochloride which is easily soluble in water (10).

C. Tautomerism

Oxindole is usually regarded as the lactam (I) of o-aminophenylacetic acid. However, the lactim (II) and the enol (III) formulas represent possible structures.



Ramart-Lucas and Biquard (162) found the absorption spectra of oxindole to be quite similar to those of N-methyloxindole (IV) and 1,3,3-trimethyloxindole (V); since the latter compound can exist only in the lactam form, they consider



that I is probably the correct structure for oxindole.

Julian (101) writes oxindole as the lactam (I) but found that in the Grignard machine two moles of reagent are consumed and two molecules of gas liberated. He feels that this indicates enolization of oxindole (I) in the sense represented by formula III rather than formula II. The reaction of 1-ethyloxindole with the Grignard reagent has been studied by Stollé (182).

Alkylation of oxindole with alkyl halides and sodium ethoxide gives the corresponding N-alkyloxindole (9). O-Alkyl ethers corresponding to the O-alkyl isatin derivatives have not been prepared from oxindole itself. The lactam and lactim ethers of certain 3,3-dialkyloxindoles have been prepared, however. Thus, Brunner (29) prepared 1,3,3-trimethyloxindole (VII) from 3,3-dimethyl-oxindole (VI) through the agency of methyl iodide and sodium methoxide, while

the lactim ether VIII resulted when the silver salt of VI was treated with methyl iodide.



Schwarz (16) likewise obtained lactam and lactim ethers from 3-isopropyloxindole and methyl iodide.



D. Oxidation and reduction

Oxindole gives indole when its vapor is passed over hot zinc (7). On prolonged heating with ammoniacal silver nitrate solution oxindole reduces the silver nitrate to a mirror (10).

On prolonged contact with air an aqueous solution of oxindole is oxidized in part, yielding dioxindole (10).

Reduction of 1,3,3-trimethyloxindole with sodium and alcohol gives 1,3,3-trimethylindolinol-2 (28, 36).

E. Acyl and alkyl derivatives of oxindole

Suida (184) prepared 1-acetyloxindole by the action of acetic anhydride on oxindole. 3-Methyloxindole and other oxindole derivatives similarly yield 1-acetyl derivatives (29, 30, 150, 165, 169, 199).

Treatment of the sodium salt of oxindole with one molecular proportion of benzoyl chloride yields 1-benzoyloxindole, while with excess benzoyl chloride 1,3,3-tribenzoyloxindole is formed (78).

3-Formyloxindole (oxindole-3-aldehyde) was first prepared by Friedlander and

454

coworkers (53, 54) by treatment of Thioindigo Scarlet R with alcoholic sodium hydroxide.



Friedlander also prepared the N-methyl analog from N-methyl Thioindigo Scarlet R. The procedure has also been employed by Kalb and Berrer (104) for the preparation of 3-formyl-5,7-diiodoöxindole.

In 1932 Stollé, Hecht, and Becker prepared 3-formyl-1-phenyloxindole (I) through the condensation of ethyl formate with 1-phenyloxindole. They formulated the compound as the tautomeric structure II.



The reaction was developed independently by Julian (100) in 1934 and used for the preparation not only of 3-formyloxindoles but also of 3-acyloxindoles in general (101).



Catalytic reduction of the latter compounds affords a new synthesis of 1,3dialkyloxindoles. On the other hand, Horner (89) has reported that 3-acyloxindoles without substituent groups on nitrogen could not be reduced to 3-alkyl derivatives.

This synthesis of 3-acyloxindoles was applied by Julian only in the case of the N-alkyl derivatives. Horner (89) extended the reaction to include the condensation of oxindole itself with various esters, as shown in the accompanying chart. The condensation of N-substituted oxindoles with esters has also been studied by



Porter, Robinson, and Weyler (160).

Horner (89) also found that 3-acetylideneoxindole (from oxindole and acetaldehyde) will condense with ethyl oxalate.



The condensation of 3-formyloxindole with malonic acid gives oxindole-3acrylic acid, which on reduction gives oxindole-3-propionic acid (64).

Oxindole and ethyl acrylate (89) undergo an interesting reaction which involves addition of oxindole (positions 1 and 3) to the double bond in two molecules of the ester (Michael reaction).



A similar reaction between isatin (position 1) and acrylonitrile has recently been reported by Di Carlo and Lindwall (45).

The reduction of ethyl oxindole-3-glyoxalate (III) under Clemmensen conditions has been studied by Horner (89). Reduction of III with zinc amalgam and hydrochloric acid gave a product melting at 217° C., which Horner described as oxindoleacetic acid (IV).



This reduction has been reinvestigated by Sumpter, Miller, and Hendrick (192), who found that Horner's "oxindoleacetic acid", like the "oxindoleacetic acid" of Gränacher (57, 58), is in reality 2-keto-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinoline-4-carboxylic acid (V) (1, 82, 83).

The formation of V in the reduction and hydrolysis of III is quite in keeping with the results of Zrike and Lindwall (213), who obtained V in the hydrolysis of VI.



Horner (89) also reported that the reduction of III gave the ethyl ester of oxindoleacetic acid (VII) when zinc amalgam and acetic acid were employed. This has been confirmed by Sumpter, Miller, and Hendrick (192), who further found that hydrolysis of VII yielded V.



It has been stated (143) that the Clemmensen reduction of α -keto acids and esters always gives the corresponding α -hydroxy acid or ester rather than the completely reduced acid. Obviously the preparation of V and of VII through the Clemmensen reduction of III constitutes an exception to this rule.

Alkyl derivatives of oxindole have been prepared by many workers (23, 24, 28, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34, 35, 36, 40, 62, 63, 79, 80, 87, 88, 107, 108, 109, 133, 134, 138, 139, 152, 173, 179, 180, 182, 202) and by a variety of procedures. A number of these general methods have already been discussed in section II of this paper.

Direct alkylation of oxindole and of N-alkyloxindoles has been accomplished

by Brunner (30) and by Julian (98, 100, 101). Julian seemingly overlooked the work of Brunner, for he stated, "The literature records no efforts at direct alkylation of oxindoles." On the contrary, Brunner (30) had recorded the alkylation of 3-methyloxindole by the action of methyl iodide.



Julian found that IX was formed when 1-methyl-3-formyloxindole was methylated by the action of methyl iodide and sodium ethoxide.



This same technique has been applied by Julian in the synthesis of 1,3-dialkyloxindole-3-acetic acid derivatives (X) and derivatives of 1,3-dialkyloxindole-3-acetaldehyde (XI).



In view of the non-existence of "oxindoleacetic acid" (1, 57, 58, 83, 192), it seems entirely possible that Julian's X has been incorrectly formulated and that the compound may be the quinoline derivative XII. This point has not been investigated.



Julian was unable to effect alkylation in position 3 in the case of oxindole itself or of 1-methyloxindole. Apparently it is necessary that there be either an alkyl or an acyl group in position 3 for further alkylation in this position to be accomplished.

Treatment of the sodium salt of 1-methyl-3-formyloxindole with methyl iodide in acetone results in the formation of the O-methyl derivative (XIII) (101). Reduction of this O-methyl ether gives the alcohol (XIV), which on



hydrolysis yields 1-methyl-3-hydroxymethyloxindole (XV).

1,3,3-Trialkyloxindoles react with the Grignard reagent to give indolinol derivatives (32, 97).



The reduction of 1,3,3-trialkyloxindoles yields indolinol derivatives in a reaction which can be reversed (28, 31, 39).



F. 3,3-Diaryl derivatives of oxindole

Baeyer and Lazarus (11, 12) and subsequently Liebermann and Danaila (135) found that isatin condenses with toluene, phenol, resorcinol, anisole, α -naphthol, and secondary and tertiary aromatic amines to give oxindole derivatives of the type of phenolisatin (3,3-bis(4'-hydroxyphenyl)oxindole) (I).



In general it was assumed, in agreement with Baeyer, that these condensation products were 3,3-derivatives of oxindole (on the other hand compare Sen (170)), but it remained for Inagaki (90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95) to establish definitely their structure. Inagaki synthesized the parent compound of the series (II) by treating a benzene solution of 3,3-dichloroöxindole with aluminum chloride. The method had been employed by Inagaki and by others (154, 186, 193) for the synthesis of other members of the series. Other 3,3-diaryl derivatives of oxindole have been prepared by Candea (71), Steopoe (177), and Gabel and Zubarovski (55).

3,3-Diphenyloxindole (II) has also been prepared from 3,3-dibromoöxindole and benzene through the agency of aluminum chloride (193). It has also been found that the same compound (II) is formed through the action of benzene and aluminum chloride on isatin (189).

Phenolisatin and its diacetyl derivative, isacene, have found use pharmacologically as mild purgatives (17, 27, 38, 65, 171, 208). A number of halogenated derivatives of phenolisatin have also been described (135, 185). Certain sulfonated members of the series are said to be of value as mothproofing agents (62).

G. Halogenation, nitration, and sulfonation

In their first paper on oxindole and dioxindole Baeyer and Knop (10) described several substituted derivatives of oxindole. Since this work was done before the true structures of oxindole, dioxindole, and isatin were known, the structures of these derivatives were not determined. It also appears that in at least some cases the physical properties reported by Baeyer and Knop were seriously in error (82, 190, 193, 194), and it is doubtful that their products were obtained in a pure state.

The bromination of certain N-substituted oxindoles was investigated by Stollé

and coworkers (180). These investigators found that the bromination of N-substituted oxindoles in aqueous solution yielded derivatives with bromine substituted in position 5 when one molecular proportion of bromine was employed and in positions 5 and 7 when two molecular proportions of bromine were used. On the other hand, the bromination of N-substituted oxindoles in anhydrous carbon tetrachloride gave the 3,3-dibromo derivatives.

Baeyer and Knop (10) reported the preparation of a monobromoöxindole through the action of bromine water on an aqueous solution of oxindole, and reported the melting point of this derivative as 176° C. The preparation was repeated by Henze and Blair (77), who found the melting point to be 220–221°C. but did not determine the structure of the compound. The entire problem of the bromination of oxindole was recently investigated by Sumpter, Miller, and Hendrick (193), who found that this monobromoöxindole was 5-bromoöxindole (I). The use of two molecular proportions of bromine results in the preparation of 5,7-dibromoöxindole (II), while with three molecular proportions of bromine



3,5,7-tribromoöxindole (III) is obtained. When the bromination is carried out with two molecular proportions of bromine in anhydrous carbon tetrachloride, 3,3-dibromoöxindole (IV) is obtained. The bromination of I and II under similar conditions yields V and VI, respectively.

Brunner and coworkers (34) obtained a dichloro derivative of 3,3-dimethyl-

oxindole (VII) by the direct chlorination of the parent compound. The assumed that this was the 5,7-derivative, from analogy with the dibrom derivative (VIII) obtained from VII by the action of bromine. The structur of compound VIII was definitely established by its synthesis from 2,4-dibrom



phenylhydrazine and isobutyraldehyde. Brunner also synthesized the 4,7 dibromo derivative of VII from 2,5-dibromophenylhydrazine.

The iodination of VII through the agency of iodine, potassium iodide, an potassium iodate in acetic acid gave the 5-iodo derivative (IX) (34). The structure of IX was established through its synthesis from the 5-amino derivative (X by diazotization and replacement of the diazonium group by iodine.



The bromination of 5,6-dimethoxyoxindole has been studied by Hahn and Tulus, who found that prolonged treatment with bromine in chloroform resulted in substitution in positions 3 and 7. The methyl group was removed from the



methoxyl in position 6 also.

It thus seems clear that halogen substitution in the oxindole series takes place in positions 5 and 7, respectively (34, 116, 147, 180, 190, 193, 194), and that under certain conditions the halogen can be directed to position 3. In several earlier papers Brunner (28, 30) and Schwarz (169) described bromo derivatives of 3,3dialkyloxindoles. While the structures of these derivatives were not determined, the editors of Beilstein's *Handbuch* have assumed in several cases (16) that these compounds were the 5- and 5,7-derivatives. In the light of the evidence reviewed above this assumption seems to be justified.

CHEMISTRY OF OXINDOLE

The 3,3-dichloro derivatives of N-alkyloxindoles were prepared by Stollé (180) through the action of calcium hypochlorite on the oxindole. The 3,3-dichloroöxindoles are also prepared quite readily from the corresponding isatin through the agency of phosphorus pentachloride. Isatin itself gives either isatin- α -chloride (XI) or 3,3-dichloroöxindole (XII), depending on the reaction conditions (6, 72).



The 1-alkyl(or aryl)-3,3-dichloroöxindoles may be prepared from the corresponding isatins or through the Stollé synthesis from the appropriate trichloroacetyl-*N*-alkylanilide.



The 3,3-dibromo and 3,3-dichloro derivatives of 1-ethyloxindole, 1-methyloxindole, and 1-propyloxindole were prepared by Michaelis (152) and by Colman (40) and Fischer and Hess (52) by treating the appropriate 1-alkylindole or 1-alkylindole-2-carboxylic acid with sodium hypochlorite. Colman (40) found that reduction of 1-methyl-3,3-dibromoöxindole with zinc dust and hydrochloric acid gave 1-methyl-3-bromoöxindole and 1-methyloxindole.



The preparation of 3,3-dichloroöxindole derivatives by the combined action of chlorosulfonic acid and hydrochloric acid on isatin and isatin derivatives has been reported (66). In a subsequent patent (198) the same worker reported that the 3,3-dichloroöxindole derivatives so obtained contained at least one sulfonyl chloride grouping in the oxindole nucleus. It has been found in this laboratory (189) that the product obtained when isatin is dissolved in chlorosulfonic acid and the solution then treated with sodium chloride is not 3,3-dichloroöxindole, as reported in the first patent (66), but a compound containing sulfur. While this compound was not investigated further, this finding is in keeping with the second patent (198).

Baeyer (6) found that oxindole reacts with phosphorus pentachloride, yielding a product designated as chloroöxindole chloride. This same substance is obtained when dioxindole is treated with phosphorus pentachloride.



Chloroöxindole chloride

Oxindole was converted into a nitro derivative by Baeyer (8), who did not determine its structure. Borsche, Weussmann, and Fritzche (22) reported that the compound was 6-nitroöxindole but gave no proof other than the claim that the compound on treatment with nitrous acid gave a nitroisatin oxime supposedly different from that obtained from 5-nitroisatin and hydroxylamine. The work of Baeyer and of Borsche was repeated by Sumpter, Miller, and Magan (194), who found the work of Borsche in error. The product obtained by nitrating oxindole was definitely shown to be the 5-nitro derivative, as would be expected. 1-Methyloxindole was nitrated by Porter, Robinson, and Weyler (160). These workers were uncertain, in view of Borsche's paper (22), whether the resulting compound should be formulated as the 5-nitro or as the 6-nitro derivative. In view of the work of Sumpter, Miller, and Magan (194) on the nitration of oxindole, there seems little doubt that the product of Porter, Robinson, and Weyler was analogously 1-methyl-5-nitroöxindole.

Brunner and coworkers (34) found that 3,3-dimethyloxindole (VII) with nitric acid gave two mononitro derivatives, which were identified as the 5-nitro derivative (XIII) and the 7-nitro derivative (XIV), respectively.



These two derivatives (XIII and XIV) were also synthesized from the corresponding nitrophenylhydrazines by methods which leave no doubt as to their structure. The 5,7-dinitro derivative (XV) was prepared by the nitration of VII and also by further nitration of XIII and XIV. In the light of the evidence outlined above it seems reasonable to assume that the nitration of certain other oxindole derivatives by Brunner also yielded the 5-nitro and the 5,7-dinitro derivatives. This assumption has been made by the editors of Beilstein's *Handbuch* (16) in designating certain nitro derivatives as the 5- and 5,7-derivatives.

The only study of the direct sulfonation of an oxindole derivative is that made by Brunner (35). 3,3-Dimethyloxindole (VII) was sulfonated through the agency of sulfuric acid and of fuming sulfuric acid. The corresponding 5-and 5,7-disulfonic acid derivatives of VII were obtained.



The structure of the disulfonic acid (XVI) follows from its conversion into the dinitro derivative (XV) and the dibromo derivative (VIII), respectively. The structure of XVII was shown by its conversion to XVIII, which was also prepared from X through the diazonium salt.

The direct sulfonation of oxindole does not seem to have been attempted.

Oxindole-6-sulfonic acid was prepared by Martinet and Dornier as indicated below (149) (compare also reference 61):



H. Condensation with aldehydes and ketones

Wahl and Bagard (200, 201, 202) found that oxindole condenses readily with benzaldehyde and with substituted benzaldehydes in the presence of piperidine to give benzaloxindoles.



Similar condensations have been effected by Borsche (21), Wahl and Faivret (204), Wahl and Ferecean (205), Windaus and Eickel (211), Neber (155), Kliegl and Schmalenbach (112), Neber and Röcker (157), Armit and Robinson (3), Kirchner (110), Stollé (180), and Horner (89).

Isatin and oxindole condense in acid media (50, 71, 122, 138, 156, 200, 201, 203, 204, 205, 206) to give isoindigo (I) and in the presence of pyridine to give isatane (II) (71, 128, 132, 138, 156, 204, 206).



Oxindole and isatin chloride condense readily to give indirubin (III).



466

Oxindole and nuclear-substituted oxindoles condense with nitrosobenzene (156) and with *p*-nitrosodimethylaniline (156, 180) to give derivatives of isatin-3-anil.



Many derivatives of oxindole have been prepared through the condensation of isatin and isatin derivatives with compounds containing active methylene groups. These reactions have already been summarized in two reviews (74, 188).

I. Amino derivatives of oxindole

6-Aminoöxindole (II) was prepared by Gabriel and Meyer (56) by the reduction of 2,4-dinitrophenylacetic acid (I) with tin and hydrochloric acid. This method was also utilized by Parks and Aldis (158). The compound (II) was also prepared by Kishi and condensed with various aldehydes, condensation products



of types A and B being obtained under different experimental conditions.



6-Aminoöxindole (II) was also prepared by Ruggli and Grand (166), as shown in the following scheme:



3-Aminoöxindole was first prepared by Baeyer (5, 10) by the reduction of the β -isatin oxime obtained by the action of nitrous acid on oxindole or of hydroxylamine on isatin.



A number of 3-amino derivatives of oxindole and of substituted oxindoles have been prepared in this way by Langenbeck and his coworkers (124, 125, 126), while the method has also been used by Di Carlo and Lindwall (45).

It has been shown by P. W. Neber (155, 156) that while the reduction of o-nitrophenylacetic acid (III) ordinarily gives oxindole (IV) through ring closure, under proper conditions o-aminophenylacetic acid (V) can be obtained. When the latter compound is diazotized and reduced by stannous chloride and the product (VI) quickly distilled, 1-aminoöxindole (VII) is obtained.



Compound V condensed with *o*-nitrobenzaldehyde to give what Neber thought was a quinoline derivative, but the product was shown by Kliegl and Schmalenback (112) to be 3-(*o*-nitrobenzal)oxindole (VIII) (m.p. 226-227°C.). On the other hand, VI and *o*-nitrobenzaldehyde condense to give IX (m.p. 170°C.).



A number of derivatives of 1-aminoöxindole were prepared by Neber and Keppler (156).

Other amino derivatives of oxindole were prepared by Lindwall and coworkers (41, 42) by condensing members of the isatin series with nitromethane and reducing the condensation product to the amine.



J. Hydroxy derivatives of oxindole

1-Hydroxyoxindole was obtained by Reissert (163, 164) by the reduction of



1-Hydroxyoxindole

o-nitrophenylacetic acid with zinc and hydrochloric acid. Oxindole was also obtained in the same reduction. Di Carlo (44) found that catalytic reduction of o-nitrophenylacetic acid under certain conditions gave 1-hydroxyoxindole, along with oxindole. 1-Hydroxyoxindole was converted to 1-acetoxyoxindole through the action of acetic anhydride and to 1-methoxyoxindole through the agency of methyl sulfate (76, 164). 1-Acetoxyoxindole was reduced to oxindole by the action of zinc dust and acetic acid (78).

3-Hydroxyoxindole (dioxindole) was first prepared by Baeyer and Knop (10) through the reduction of isatin by the action of sodium amalgam in alkaline medium. Reduction of isatide by sodium amalgam also yielded dioxindole (10). Isatin has also been reduced to dioxindole, by Heller (75), using zinc and acetic



Dioxindole

acid, and by Marschalk (144, 142) and Kalb (102), using sodium hydrosulfite as the reducing agent.

Isatin-4-carboxylic acid is reduced by sodium amalgam to dioxindole-4-carboxylic acid. The latter compound disproportionates in boiling alcoholic solution, yielding isatin-4-carboxylic acid and oxindole-4-carboxylic acid (26).

The reduction of 1-methylisatin and 1-ethylisatin by zinc and hydrochloric acid gives the corresponding 1-alkyldioxindole (40, 152, 189). Sodium hydrosulfite can also be used for the reduction of various isatin derivatives to the corresponding dioxindoles (85, 189, 190, 204). The isolation of the *d*- and *l*-enantiomorphs of dioxindole, which is obtained as the racemic dioxindole in all of the above preparations, has been effected by McKenzie and Stewart (140). Measurement of the oxidation potential of dioxindole has been made by Fieser (51).

Dioxindole reacts with benzoyl chloride to give a benzoyl derivative (m.p. 134°C.), which has been shown by Heller (75, 81) and by McKenzie and Stewart (140) to be 3-benzoyldioxindole (I). 1,3-Dibenzoyldioxindole (II) (m.p. 170°C.) was prepared by Heller (75) and by McKenzie and Stewart through the Schotten-Baumann reaction.



An isomer of I (m.p. 104° C.) was prepared by Hill and Sumpter (85) through the action of benzoyl chloride on the sodium salt of either dioxindole or isatide. The molecular weight of the substance corresponds to that of a benzoyl derivative of dioxindole and not to that of an isatide derivative (189). It is possible that this compound is 1-benzoyldioxindole (III), although definite proof of structure is lacking as yet.



3-Acetyldioxindole (V) (m.p. 127°C.) was prepared by Suida (183, 184) through the action of acetic anhydride on dioxindole. The compound was described by Suida as being the 1-acetyl derivative (IV). Heller later reported that Suida's



acetyldioxindole was the 3-acetyl derivative (V) (references 74 (page 18) and 81). 1-Acetyldioxindole (IV) (m.p. 127°C.) was prepared by Sumpter (189) through the reduction of 1-acetylisatin with sodium hydrosulfite. While the melting points of IV and V are identical, the preparations are not identical, as is shown by the fact that a mixture of the two exhibits a marked depression in melting point. Since the method of preparation of IV leaves little doubt of its structure, it follows that Heller (74, 81) and McKenzie and Stewart (140) were correct in their conclusion that Suida's acetyldioxindole is V and not IV. An acetyldioxindole (m.p. 127°C.) was obtained by Bamberger and Lindberg (14) and described by these workers as "possibly 1-acetyldioxindole". From the method of preparation and physical properties this substance might have been either IV or V. This point can only be settled by the repetition of the work of Bamberger and Lindberg. The acetyl derivatives of a number of 1-alkyldioxindoles have been described by Stollé and Merkle (181).

1-Hydroxydioxindole was prepared by Heller (77) through the reduction of *o*-nitromandelic acid by zinc dust and ammonium hydroxide. This compound (VI) is reduced to dioxindole by the action of zinc dust and acetic acid.



Through the reduction of their "6-nitroisatin" by hydrogen in the presence of nickel catalyst, Rupe and Apotheker (167) obtained a compound which they regarded as being 6-aminodioxindole. Since Sumpter and Jones (191) demonstrated that Rupe's 6-nitroisatin was in reality 5-nitroisatin, it follows that the hydrogenation product was probably 5-aminodioxindole. The latter compound was also prepared by Hartmann and Pannizzon (73).

Another method for the synthesis of dioxindole and its derivatives is provided by a procedure developed by Martinet and coworkers (20, 67, 144, 145, 147, 149). Aniline or a substituted aromatic amine is condensed with the ethyl or methyl ester of oxomalonic acid. On treatment with alkali the resulting compound (VIII) gives dioxindole (VII) in the absence of oxygen. In the presence of oxygen isatin results through oxidation of VII. The reaction has also been studied



by Kalb (102, 104), by Halberkann (70), by Hinsberg (86), and by Langenbeck (122, 123). Heller (80a) found that VIII could also be prepared by the hydrolysis and esterification of the product obtained by the condensation of isatin with hydrocyanic acid.

Dioxindole is converted into isatin β -phenylhydrazone by heating with phenylhydrazine (75, 146).

3-Alkyl-3-hydroxyoxindoles (IX) are readily prepared by the action of Grignard reagents on isatin (85, 115, 116, 119, 120, 121, 154, 174, 175, 176, 182, 186, 187). (For other syntheses of 3-phenyl-3-hydroxyoxindole see references 13 and



103.) Kohn (120) found that when phenylmagnesium bromide and N-methylisatin were allowed to react in equimolecular proportions, the analogous 1-methyl-3-phenyl-3-hydroxyoxindole (X) was obtained. On the other hand, when N-methylisatin was treated with excess Grignard reagent Kohn found that both carbonyl groups in the isatin molecule reacted, yielding XI. It was subsequently found by Myers and Lindwall (154) that Kohn's product was in reality a mixture of XI and the rearrangement product XII. The latter substance was also obtained by Reeves and Lindwall (162a) by the action of phenylmagnesium bro-



mide on N-methyl benzoylformanilide. The reactions of N-substituted isatins with Grignard reagents have also been studied by Inagaki (96), by Stollé (182), and by Sumpter (186, 187).

The Reformatsky reaction was employed by Myers and Lindwall (153) to obtain the ethyl ester of 3-hydroxy-1-methyloxindolyl-3-acetic acid (XIII). Hydrolysis of this ester brings about ring opening and subsequent closure to give





the quinoline derivative (XIV).



Isatin undergoes an aldol type of reaction with many compounds containing active methylene groups, yielding 3-hydroxy derivatives of oxindole (reference 188, page 413). For example, Zrike and Lindwall (213) found that isatin condenses with ethyl phenylacetate to give the product XV.



Hill and Samachson (84) found that phenylacetonitrile condensed with isatin to give compound XVI.



Similar aldol-like condensation products (XVII) were obtained by Lindwall and coworkers when isatin and substituted isatins were condensed with nitromethane and nitroethane. Other 3-hydroxyoxindole derivatives were prepared by Lindwall and coworkers (25, 47, 48, 136, 213), by Baumen (15), and by Schönberg, Schütz, Arend, and Peter (168).

Baeyer and Knop (10) described the preparation of a number of substituted dioxindoles by direct substitution. Most of these preparations have not been repeated. The preparation of the monobromodioxindole of Baeyer and Knop (10) has been repeated in this laboratory (190) and the melting point reported by Baeyer found to be far too low. That the product of this bromination is 5-bromodioxindole has been shown by the preparation of the same compound by the reduction of 5-bromoisatin with sodium hydrosulfite. Further proof of structure was provided by the fact that the bromodioxindole yielded 5-bromoisatin phenyl-hydrazone when heated with phenylhydrazine. It was further found that the dibromo derivative (from dioxindole and two molecular proportions of bromine) was the 5,7-dibromo derivative. This was established by its preparation from 5,7-dibromoisatin through reduction as well as its conversion to 5,7-dibromoisatin phenylhydrazone.

Kohn (116) found that the 3-alkyl-3-hydroxyoxindoles brominate in position 5. 5-Bromo-3-methyl-3-hydroxyoxindole (XVIII) was prepared equally well by the action of bromine on 3-methyl-3-hydroxyoxindole and from the Grignard complex resulting from the action of methylmagnesium iodide on 5-bromoisatin.



Martinet (147) found that ethyl 5-bromo-3-hydroxy-1-methyloxindole-3carboxylate (XIX) could be prepared by the bromination of the parent compound or by the condensation of ethyl oxomalonate with N-methyl-p-bromoaniline.



IV. REFERENCES

- (1) AESCHLIMANN, J. A.: J. Chem. Soc. 1926, 2902.
- (2) AINLEY, A. D., AND ROBINSON, R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1934, 1508.
- (3) ARMIT, J. W., AND ROBINSON, R.: J. Chem. Soc. 127, 1604 (1925).
- (4) BAEYER, A.: Ber. 1, 17 (1868).
- (5) BAEYER, A.: Ber. 11, 582, 1228 (1878).
- (6) BAEYER, A.: Ber. 12, 456 (1879).
- (7) BAEYER, A.: Ann. 140, 296 (1866).
- (8) BAEYER, A.: Ber. 12, 1312 (1879).
- (9) BAEYER, A., AND COMSTOCK, W. J.: Ber. 16, 1705 (1883).
- (10) BAEYER, A., AND KNOP, C. A.: Ann. 140, 1 (1866).
- (11) BAEYER, A., AND LAZARUS, M. J.: Ber. 12, 1310 (1879).
- (12) BAEYER, A., AND LAZARUS, M. J.: Ber. 18, 2637 (1885).
- (13) BAKUNIN AND PECCERILLO, D.: Gazz. chim. ital. 63, 3 (1933); Chem. Abstracts 27, 3213 (1933).
- (14) BAMBERGER, E., AND LINDBERG, S.: Ber. 43, 122 (1910).
- (15) BAUMANN, E.: Ber. 18, 890 (1885).
- (16) BEILSTEIN: Handbuch der organishen Chemie, 4th edition, Vol. 21, pp. 290, 292, 293, 294, 296.
- (17) BERGELL, P.: Z. med. Chem. 4, 65 (1926); Chem. Abstracts 21, 3708 (1927).
- (18) BERGSTROM, F. W., AND ROBINSON, R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1939, 189.
- (19) BERTHELOT, MM., AND ANDRE, G.: Compt. rend. 128, 970 (1899).
- (20) BONNEFOY, J., AND MARTINET, J.: Compt. rend. 172, 220 (1921).
- (21) BORSCHE, W., WAGNER-ROEMMICH, M., AND BARTHENHEIER, J.: Ann. 550, 160 (1942).
- (22) BORSCHE, W., WEUSSMANN, H., AND FRITZSCHE, A.: Ber. 57 B, 1149 (1924).
- (23) BOYD-BARRETT, H. S.: J. Chem. Soc. 1932, 321.
- (24) BOYD-BARRETT, H. S., AND ROBINSON, R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1932, 317.
- (25) BRAUDE, E., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 325 (1933).
- (26) BRAUN, J. V., AND HAHN, G.: Ber. 56B, 2343 (1923).
- (27) British patent 523,496; German patents 641,625 and 695,691; U.S. patent 2,232,034.
- (28) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 17, 276, 488 (1896).
- (29) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 18, 95 (1897).
- (30) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 18, 531 (1897).
- (31) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 21, 173 (1900).
- (32) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 26, 1359 (1905).
- (33) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 27, 1183 (1906).
- (34) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 58, 369 (1931).
- (35) BRUNNER, K.: Monatsh. 62, 373 (1933).
- (36) BRUNNER, K., AND MOSER, H.: Monatsh. 61, 15 (1932).

- (37) CANDEA, C.: Bull. sect. sci. acad. roumaine 8, 31 (1922-23); Chem. Abstracts 17, 1638 (1923).
- (38) CHRISTIANSEN, E. V.: Arch. Pharm. Chem. 88, 47, 69 (1931); Chem. Abstracts 25, 4264 (1931).
- (39) CIAMICIAN, G., AND PICCININI, A.: Ber. 29, 2467 (1896).
- (40) COLMAN, H. G.: Ann. 248, 116 (1888).
- (41) CONN, W. R., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 58, 1236 (1936).
- (42) CRAWFORD, R. B., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 171 (1940).
- (43) CURTIUS, T., AND THUN, K.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 44, 187 (1890).
- (44) DI CARLO, F. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 66, 1420 (1944).
- (45) DI CARLO, F. J., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 199 (1945).
- (46) DUISBERG, C.: Ber. 18, 190 (1885).
- (47) DUPUIS, R. N., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 56, 471 (1934).
- (48) DUPUIS, R. N., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 56, 2716 (1934).
- (49) ERDMANN, O. L.: J. prakt. Chem. [1] 22, 257 (1841).
- (50) FERICEAN, G.: Bull. soc. chim. Roumania 13, 27 (1931); Chem. Abstracts 26, 1280 (1932).
- (51) FIESER, L. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 52, 5204 (1930).
- (52) FISCHER, E., AND HESS, O.: Ber. 17, 564 (1884).
- (53) FRIEDLANDER, P., AND KIELBASINSKI, S.: Ber. 44, 3098 (1911); German patent 246,338.
- (54) FRIEDLANDER, P., AND SCHWENCK, E.: Ber. 43, 1974 (1910).
- (55) GABEL, Y. O., AND ZUBAROVSKII, V. M.: J. Gen. Chem. (U. S. S. R.) 7, 305 (1937); Chem. Abstracts 31, 4666 (1937).
- (56) GABRIEL, S., AND MEYER, R.: Ber. 14, 823 (1881).
- (57) GRÄNACHER, C., AND MAHAL, A.: Helv. Chim. Acta 6, 467 (1923).
- (58) GRÄNACHER, C., AND KOUNINIOTIS, C.: Helv. Chim. Acta 11, 1241 (1928).
- (59) German patent 218,477.
- (60) German patent 218,727.
- (61) German patent 289,028.
- (62) German patent 341,112.
- (63) German patent 335,673.
- (64) German patent 451,957; U. S. patent 1,656,239.
- (65) German patent 558,238.
- (66) German patent 694,044.
- (67) GUYOT, A., AND MARTINET, J.: Compt. rend. 156, 1625 (1913).
- (68) HAHN, G., AND SCHULZ, H. J.: Ber. 72B, 1308 (1939).
- (69) HAHN, G., AND TULUS, M. R.: Ber. 74B, 500 (1941).
- (70) HALBERKANN, J.: Ber. 54B, 3079 (1921).
- (71) HANSEN, C. W.: Ann. chim. [10] 1, 94, 126 (1924).
- (72) HANTZSCH, A.: Ber. 54B, 1221, 1257 (1921).
- (73) HARTMANN, M., AND PANIZZON, L.: Helv. Chim. Acta 19, 1327 (1936).
- (74) HELLER, G.: Über Isatin, Isatyd, Dioxindole, und Indophenin, 173 pages, Ahrens Sammlung, Vol. 5 (1931).
- (75) HELLER, G.: Ber. 37, 943 (1904).
- (76) HELLER, G.: Ber. 39, 2345 (1906).
- (77) HELLER, G.: Ber. 42, 470 (1910).
- (78) HELLER, G.: Ber. 43, 1907 (1911).
- (78a) HELLER, G.: Ber. 49, 2775 (1916).
- (79) HELLER, G.: Ann. 358, 349 (1907).
- (80) Heller, G., and Aschkenasi, S.: Ann. 375, 261 (1910).
- (80a) HELLER, G., AND NÖTZEL, O.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 77, 145 (1907).
- (81) Heller, G., and Lauth, H.: Ber. 62B, 343 (1929).
- (82) HENZE, H. R., AND BLAIR, C. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 4621 (1933).
- (83) HILL, A. J., SCHULTZ, A. S., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 52, 769 (1930).

- (84) HILL, A. J., AND SAMACHSON, J.: Unpublished dissertation of J. Samachson, Yale University, 1930.
- (85) HILL, A. J., AND SUMPTER, W. C.: Unpublished dissertation of W. C. Sumpter, Yale University, 1930.
- (86) HINSBERG, O.: Ber. 21, 117 (1888).
- (87) HINSBERG, O.: Ber. 41, 1367 (1908).
- (88) HINSBERG, O., AND ROSENWEIG, J.: Ber. 27, 3253 (1894).
- (89) HORNER, L.: Ann. 548, 117 (1941).
- (90) INAGAKI, S.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 53, 686 (1933).
- (91) INAGAKI, S.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 53, 698 (1933).
- (92) INAGAKI, S.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 58, 946 (1938).
- (93) INAGAKI, S.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 58, 961 (1938).
- (94) INAGAKI, S.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 58, 976 (1938).
- (95) INAGAKI, S.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 59, 1 (1939).
- (96) INAGAKI, S.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 59, 5 (1939).
- (97) JENISCH, G.: Monatsh. 27, 1223 (1906).
- (98) JULIAN, P. L., AND PIKL, J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 563 (1935).
- (99) JULIAN, P. L., AND PIKL, J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 755 (1935).
- (100) JULIAN, P. L., PIKL, J., AND BOGGESS, D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 56, 1797 (1934).
- (101) JULIAN, P. L., PIKL, J., AND WANTZ, F. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 2026 (1935).
- (102) KALB, L.: Ber. 44, 1455 (1911).
- (103) Kalb, L., and Bayer, J.: Ber. 45, 2150 (1912).
- (104) KALB, L., AND BERRER, E.: Ber. 57 B, 2105 (1924).
- (105) KENDALL, E. C., OSTERBERG, A. E., AND MACKENZIE, F. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 48, 1384 (1926).
- (106) KENDALL, E. C., AND OSTERBERG, A. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 49, 2047 (1927).
- (107) KEIMATSU, S., SUGAWA, S., AND LEE, N.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 57, 294 (1937); Chem. Abstracts 31, 5353 (1937).
- (108) KING, F. E., AND ROBINSON, R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1932, 326.
- (109) KING, F. E., AND ROBINSON, R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1932, 1433.
- (110) KIRCHNER, E.: Nach. kgl. Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, Math-physik. Klasse 1921, 154-61; Chem. Abstracts 17, 1012 (1923).
- (111) KISHI, N.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 546, 677 (1927); Chem. Abstracts 22, 421 (1928).
- (112) KLIEGL, A., AND SCHMALENBACH, A.: Ber. 56B, 1517 (1923).
- (113) KOELSCH, C. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 66, 2019 (1944).
- (114) KOENIG, A., AND REISSERT, A.: Ber. 32, 793 (1899).
- (115) KOHN, M.: Monatsh. 31, 747 (1910).
- (116) KOHN, M.: Monatsh. 32, 905 (1911).
- (117) KOHN, M.: Monatsh. 49, 2514 (1916).
- (118) KOHN, M., AND KLEIN, A.: Monatsh. 33, 929 (1912).
- (119) Kohn, M., and Ostersetzer, A.: Monatsh. 34, 789 (1913).
- (120) KOHN, M., AND OSTERSETZER, A.: Monatsh. 34, 1714 (1913).
- (121) KOHN, M., AND OSTERSETZER, A.: Monatsh. 37, 25 (1916).
- (122) LANGENBECK, W., HELLRUNG, F., AND JUTTEMANN, R.: Ann. 499, 201 (1932).
- (123) LANGENBECK, W., HELLRUNG, F., AND JUTTEMANN, R.: Ann. 512, 276 (1934).
- (124) LANGENBECK, W., HUTSCHENREUTER, R., AND JUTTEMANN, R.: Ann. 485, 53 (1931).
- (125) LANGENBECK, W., JUTTEMANN, R., AND HELLRUNG, F.: Ann. 499, 201 (1932).
- (126) LANGENBECK, W., AND WEISSENBORN, K.: Ber. 72B, 724 (1939).
- (127) LAURENT, A.: Ann. chim. phys. [3] 3, 372 (1840).
- (128) LAURENT, A.: Rev. sci. ind. (September, 1842).
- (129) LAURENT, A.: J. prakt. Chem. [1] 25, 434 (1842).
- (130) LAURENT, A.: J. prakt. Chem. [1] 47, 166 (1849).
- (131) LAURENT, A.: Ann. 72, 285 (1849).
- (132) LEFEVRE, L.: Bull. soc. chim. 19, 113 (1916).

- (133) LEUCHS, H., AND OVERBERG, H. S.: Ber. 64B, 1896 (1931).
- (134) LIEBER, D.: Monatsh. 29, 421 (1908).
- (135) LIEBERMANN, C., AND DANAILA, N.: Ber. 40, 3588 (1907).
- (136) LINDWALL, H. G., AND MACLENNAN, J. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 54, 4739 (1932).
- (137) LIPPMANN, E.: Chem.-Ztg. 29, 1173 (1905).
- (138) LIVOVSCHI, V.: Compt. rend. 201, 217 (1935).
- (139) LIVOVSCHI, V.: Compt. rend. 203, 1265 (1936).
- (140) MCKENZIE, A., AND STEWART, P. A.: J. Chem. Soc. 1935, 104.
- (141) MARSCHALK, C.: Ber. 45, 582 (1912).
- (142) MARSCHALK, C.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 88, 227 (1913).
- (143) MARTIN, E. L.: "The Clemmensen Reduction," p. 159 in Organic Reactions, Vol. I, (Roger Adams, Editor). John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1942).
- (144) MARTINET, J.: Compt. rend. 166, 851 (1918).
- (145) MARTINET, J.: Compt. rend. 166, 998 (1918).
- (146) MARTINET, J.: Compt. rend. 168, 689 (1919).
- (147) MARTINET, J.: Ann. chim. 11, 85 (1919).
- (148) MARTINET, J., AND DORNIER, O.: Compt. rend. 172, 1415 (1921).
- (149) MARTINET, J., AND VACHER, F.: Bull. soc. chim. 31, 435 (1922).
- (150) MAZZARO, G., AND BORGO, A.: Gazz. chim. ital. 35, II, 320, 563 (1905).
- (151) MEYER, P. J.: Ber. 16, 2262 (1883).
- (152) MICHAELIS, A.: Ber. 30, 2811 (1897).
- (153) MYERS, F. J., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 60, 644 (1938).
- (154) MYERS, F. J., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 60, 2153 (1938).
- (155) NEBER, P. W.: Ber. 55B, 826 (1922).
- (156) NEBER, P. W., AND KEPPLER, H.: Ber. 57 B, 778 (1924).
- (157) NEBER, P. W., AND ROCKER, E.: Ber. 56B, 1710 (1923).
- (158) PARKS, G. D., AND ALDIS, B. C.: J. Chem. Soc. 1938, 1841.
- (159) PAUCKSCH, H.: Ber. 17, 2800 (1884).
- (160) PORTER, J. C., ROBINSON, R., AND WEYLER, M.: J. Chem. Soc. 1941, 620.
- (161) PSCHORR, R., AND HOPPE, G.: Ber. 43, 2546 (1910).
- (162) RAMART-LUCAS, MME., AND BIQUARD, MLLE.: Bull. soc. chim. [5] 2, 1383 (1935).
- (162a) REEVES, R. F., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 64, 1086 (1942).
- (163) REISSERT, A.: Ber. 30, 1043 (1897).
- (164) REJSSERT, A.: Ber. 41, 3921 (1908).
- (165) REISSERT, A., AND SCHERK, J.: Ber. 31, 393 (1898).
- (166) RUGGLI, P., AND GRAND, R.: Helv. Chim. Acta 20, 373 (1937).
- (167) RUPE, H., AND APOTHEKER, K.: Helv. Chim. Acta 9, 1049 (1926).
- (168) SCHÖNBERG, A., SCHÜTZ, O., AREND, G., AND PETER, J.: Ber. 60B, 2344 (1927).
- (169) SCHWARZ, H.: Monatsh. 24, 572 (1903).
- (170) SEN, R. N., AND SIRCAR, S. S.: Quart. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1, 151 (1924).
- (171) SILBERSCHMIDT, R.: Festschrift Emil C. Barell 1936, 436; Chem. Abstracts 31, 2677 (1937).
- (172) SMITH, L. I., AND MACMULLEN, C. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 58, 629 (1936).
- (173) STEDMAN, E., AND BARGER, G.: J. Chem. Soc. 127, 247 (1925).
- (174) STEINKOPF, W., AND HANSKE, W.: Ann. 541, 238 (1939).
- (175) STEINKOPF, W., AND HEMPEL, H.: Ann. 495, 144 (1932).
- (176) STEINKOPF, W., AND WILHELM, H.: Ber. 70B, 2233 (1937).
- (177) STEOPOE, A.: Ber. 60B, 1116 (1927).
- (178) STOLLÉ, R.: Ber. 46, 3915 (1913).
- (179) STOLLÉ, R.: Ber. 47, 2120 (1914).
- (180) STOLLÉ, R., BERGDOLL, R., LUTHER, M., AUERHAHN, A., AND WACKER, W.: J. prakt. Chem. 128, 1 (1930).
- (181) STOLLÉ, R., AND MERKLE, M.: J. prakt. Chem. 139, 329 (1934).
- (182) STOLLÉ, R., HECHT, H., AND BECKER, W.: J. prakt. Chem. 135, 345 (1932).

- (183) SUIDA, W.: Ber. 11, 584 (1878).
- (184) SUIDA, W.: Ber. 12, 1326 (1879).
- (185) SUMPTER, W. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 54, 3766 (1932).
- (186) SUMPTER, W. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 64, 1736 (1942).
- (187) SUMPTER, W. C.: Trans. Kentucky Acad. Sci. 9, 61 (1941).
- (188) SUMPTER, W. C.: Chem. Rev. 34, 393 (1944).
- (189) SUMPTER, W. C.: Unpublished work.
- (190) SUMPTER, W. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 1140 (1945).
- (191) SUMPTER, W. C., AND JONES, W. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 65, 1802 (1943).
- (192) SUMPTER, W. C., MILLER, M., AND HENDRICK, L. N.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 1037 (1945).
- (193) SUMPTER, W. C., MILLER, M., AND HENDRICK, L. N.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 1656 (1945).
- (194) SUMPTER, W. C., MILLER, M., AND MAGAN, M. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 499 (1945).
- (195) TOMICEK, O.: Chem. Listy 16, 1-4, 35-9 (1922); Chem. Abstracts 17, 1467 (1923).
- (196) TRINIUS, P.: Ann. 227, 274 (1885).
- (197) U. S. patent 1,587,866; British patent 244,444.
- (198) U.S. patent 2,335,273
- (199) WAHL, A.: Monatsh. 38, 525 (1918).
- (200) WAHL, A., AND BAGARD, P.: Bull. soc. chim. [4] 5, 1033 (1909).
- (201) WAHL, A., AND BAGARD, P.: Compt. rend. 148, 716 (1909).
- (202) WAHL, A., AND BAGARD, P.: Compt. rend. 149, 132 (1910).
- (203) WAHL, A., AND FAIVRET, T.: Compt. rend. 180, 589 (1925).
- (204) WAHL, A., AND FAIVRET, T.: Compt. rend. 181, 790 (1925); Ann. chim. [10] 5, 314 (1926).
- (205) WAHL, A., AND FERECEAN, G.: Compt. rend. 186, 378 (1928); Ann. chim. [10] 9, 277 (1928).
- (206) WAHL, A., AND HANSEN, C. W.: Compt. rend. 176, 1070 (1923); 178, 214, 393 (1924).
- (207) WAHL, A., AND LIVOVSCHI, V.: Compt. rend. 205, 738 (1937); Bull. soc. chim. [5] 5, 653 (1938).
- (208) WEISS, R. F.: Deut. med. Wochschr. 52, 1343 (1926); Chem. Abstracts 21, 2738 (1927).
- (209) WHEELER, H. L.: Am. Chem. J. 23, 465 (1900).
- (210) WIELAND, H., AND WIELAND, TH.: Ann. 528, 234 (1937).
- (211) WINDAUS, A., AND EICKEL, W.: Ber. 57B, 1871 (1924).
- (212) WISPEC, P.: Ber. 16, 1580 (1883).
- (213) ZRIKE, E., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 207 (1935).
- (214) ZRIKE, E., AND LINDWALL, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 58, 49 (1936).